No. 100308-1
Court of Appeals No. 81482-6-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES W. CHERBERG, et ux.,

Respondents,

v.

HAL E. GRIFFITH, et ux.,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Arthur W. Harrigan, Jr., WSBA #1751
Tyler L. Farmer, WSBA #39912
Kristin E. Ballinger, WSBA #28253
HARRIGAN LEYH FARMER &
THOMSEN LLP
999 Third Avenue, Suite 4400
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 623-1700

Attorneys for Hal and Joan Griffith

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The Griffiths, defendants and appellants, are petitioners.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Griffiths seek review of the Court of Appeals' decision in *Cherberg v. Griffith*, No. 81482-6-I (Sept. 20, 2021) (Decision), which superseded an earlier decision upon motion by the Cherbergs, who were the plaintiffs and respondents. *See* Appendix 1, 21.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Decision conflicts with decisions of this Court because it affirmed an order of specific performance and finding of breach (a) contrary to the only reasonable interpretation of the contract and (b) requiring the Griffiths to do something materially different even from what the trial court (erroneously) found the Griffiths had agreed to do.

2. Whether the Decision conflicts with a decision of the Court of Appeals because the fees awarded to the Cherbergs should have been offset by the fees the Griffiths incurred

prevailing on the Cherbergs' \$1-1.2 million misrepresentation claim, and the Cherbergs should have been required to segregate fees incurred on that failed claim.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Relevant Facts

For many years the Griffiths lived next door to the Dunns, sharing a jointly-built dock that landed on the Dunns' property. RP 693-97; CP 677-78 ¶ 1.1. After Mr. Dunn died, the Griffiths purchased the Dunn home, created an exclusive dock easement on the Dunn property in the Griffiths' favor, and advertised the Dunn home for sale as a "no dock" property. RP 92, 694-96; CP 677-78 ¶¶ 1.1-1.5.

Through their joint realtor Robbs and without direct discussions, the parties negotiated the Cherbergs' purchase of the property, including discussions with Robbs about a possible Cherberg dock. CP 678 ¶ 1.8. Robbs advised the Griffiths that the Cherbergs sought only "to build a small dock, only large enough to support a boat lift for his water ski boat [A]

small dock . . . which would not interfere with the Griffiths' use of their own dock." Ex. 460. Such a dock would not impact the Griffiths' use of their dock, including a floating dock. The trial court found, "[t]he Griffiths said they would support a dock that did not significantly interfere with the use of their existing dock. The parties' agreements regarding the dock were essential provisions of the PSA." CP 678 ¶¶ 1.9-1.10.

In June 2012, the parties executed a Purchase and Sale Agreement (PSA) and two addenda (Addendum 1 and Addendum 2) drafted by Robbs. All communications before and for some time after closing were via Robbs.

Addendum 1 obligated the Griffiths "to assist" the Cherbergs "in their effort to obtain a dock permit" and "not to challenge in any way [their] solicitation of said permit." App. 23-24; CP 685 ¶ 1.58. This addendum also provided that the Griffiths would "allow Buyers to encroach into the normal 35 setback," i.e., to place a dock within 35 feet of the Griffiths dock, a setback otherwise required under the City code. App.

23-24; *see also* CP 679 ¶ 1.13. Neither a dock nor the extent of permitted intrusion was specified. App. 23-24. I.e., absolute compliance with the 35-foot setback rule would not be required, but there was no agreement on the extent of intrusion.

Burns Sketch Dock (App. 30)

In Addendum 2, executed one week after Addendum 1, the Griffiths “acknowledge[d] receipt of the NEW DOCK email copy from Ted Burns outlining the proposed dock” the Cherbergs “intend[] to pursue.” App. 25-26; CP 679-80 ¶ 1.15. Addendum 2 did not otherwise define “[t]he proposed dock.” The Griffiths acknowledged only receipt of the email. The Griffiths also reiterated the non-specific setback provision of Addendum 1 by agreeing “to sign a Joint Use Agreement as attached which will allow the” Cherbergs “to place the proposed dock within the 35 foot setback usually required” to an unspecified extent. App. 25-36; CP 679-80 ¶ 1.15-.16. The Joint Use Agreement (JUA) referred to was not attached, only a blank form was provided, and none was signed. CP 679 ¶ 1.13.

The “proposed dock” depicted in the sketch in the “NEW DOCK” email (App. 30) entailed removing, or severely obstructing use of, the Griffiths’ floating dock (App. 51), as the Cherbergs knew (App. 35; RP 281). The Griffiths, who had told Robbs that no dock that interfered with their own would be allowed, struck from proposed Addendum 2 provisions that the Griffiths would (1) “remove the[ir] floating dock” and (2) “cooperate with Buyers and the piling company to pursue a permit in order to obtain the dock.” CP 679-80 ¶ 1.15; App. 25-26. I.e., the Griffiths declined to support a permit for “the dock” and refused to remove their floating dock. Mr. Cherberg initialed these strikeouts. *Id.*

Mr. Cherberg was not in doubt about the consequences of the Griffiths’ strikeouts. He had proposed the draft Addendum 2 “believ[ing] that the Griffiths would remove their floats” (RP 281). In view of the strikeouts, on June 24, he wrote to Robbs, “If floating dock stays, how close will he allow us to encroach? . . . Are the Griffeths [sic] willing to move it if necessary? . . .

My prostate is prostrate and I do not want to get into a pissing match. Now or later.” App. 35. I.e., Cherberg knew he now had no agreement to the Burns sketch dock, which called for removal of or substantial encroachment on the Griffiths’ floating dock. Without raising or seeking to negotiate this issue, he simply allowed the transaction to close. RP 267.

The Cherbergs knew after closing that no dock agreement had been reached, and immediately began making substantive changes to the configuration. *E.g.*, Ex. 365 (July 2012: “I’d really like to propose this to Hal Griffith [sic]: Remove not only the floating pontoons and lift, but also the little ‘el’ that points south off his southerly main pier”); Ex. 373 (Nov. 2012: “I like the new configuration”; “it is the Griffith dock . . . that is bugging up this whole process”; “Let me know as soon as your drawing is done.”).

From late 2012 through early 2015, the Cherbergs repeatedly presented to the Griffiths dock designs larger and more intrusive than the Burns sketch dock. *See* App. 47; Exs.

7, 365, 369, 373-74, 376-78, 382-83, 385, 387, 415, 422, 427.

Meanwhile, in a carefully protected effort kept secret from the Griffiths, the Cherbergs sought a permit from the Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) for one of those larger, more intrusive docks. *E.g.*, Ex. 398 (“[I]f [Kris Robbs] tell[s] Griffith” that “we submitted for the federal permit . . . is there any way Griffith could bugger up the Corps permit?”).

The Corps had serious concerns with the impact of the proposed Cherberg dock on the Griffiths. The Corps noted that “[t]he proposed drawing does not show” the Griffiths’ dock’s “canopy and some finger piers and/or platforms” and asked whether they had been or would be “removed” because, “[i]f not, . . . [it] looks like it’ll be pretty close” (Ex. 422). Burns misleadingly answered as Cherberg directed (Ex. 419):

- Corps: “Does Mr. Griffith have any objections to the proposed pier?”

Burns: “Mr. Cherberg provided the following response as to Mr. Griffith’s understanding of the location and construction of the proposed pier: ‘Mr. Cherberg intends to construct dock

included in the [PSA] between himself and Mr. Griffith.” Ex. 422.

- Corps: “It seems that 18.5 feet would be **insufficient room for the Griffith family to use their pier.**”

Burns: “[T]he proposed pier location was discussed with the Griffiths as part of purchasing the property and they agreed with the location. . . . The Griffiths currently don’t use the south side of their dock except to store floats and a boatlift.” App. 57 (emphasis added).

The Corps approved the dock without contacting the Griffiths, believing that the Griffiths had approved it.

During this same period, in March 2014, the Cherbergs threatened the Griffiths with the loss of all use of the Griffiths’ dock based on an obvious error by the Griffiths’ attorney, who mistakenly reversed the easement descriptions. The Cherbergs’ lawyer wrote, “it is the Cherbergs that currently have the right to exclusive use and possession of your existing dock.” Ex. 396. This threat persisted. In the eventual lawsuit the Cherbergs sought “an order quieting title extinguishing both Easements . . . and ejecting Griffiths from the Landscape

Easement and the portion of the Griffith dock that falls on the Cherberg Property.” CP 6.

**Griffiths’ May 2014 and February 2016 Proposals
(App. 38, App. 61)**

In the meantime, the Griffiths—motivated in part by the threat of losing all rights in their own dock because of a lawyer mistake—were trying to come up a solution.

In May and November 2014 and again in February 2016, the Griffiths proposed dock designs exceeding the modest objectives the Cherbergs had identified during the negotiations. App. 38; Ex. 435; App. 61. The Cherbergs’ boating expert testified at trial that the Griffiths’ proposals would have met the Cherbergs’ “diagnosed boating issues” (RP 150) and would have allowed the Griffiths’ floating dock to remain and be useable. The designs did so because they called for a single dock instead of two parallel dock arms stemming from a single connection to shore. *Compare* App. 61 (one arm) *with* App. 45 (two arms). The two-arm design entirely prevented the use of

the floating part of the Griffiths' dock. *See* RP 587-88, 599-602. The Cherbergs rejected the Griffiths' proposals. RP 370-74; Ex. 529 ¶ 7.

The Cherbergs' only explanation (at the time or at trial) for rejecting the Griffiths' proposals was provided by the Cherbergs to the Corps. A Corps representative asked Mr. Cherberg why he had rejected the Griffiths' proposals; he explained that he "wanted to have a larger pier structure with two arms, like his neighbors." RP 567; Ex. 529.

Cherbergs' January 2015 Proposal (App. 50)

In January 2015, the Cherbergs asked the City of Mercer Island to issue a permit for a dock that was 100 feet over the water, compared to the Burns sketch dock that was only 75 feet over the water. *Compare* App. 30 (Burns sketch dock) *with* App. 50 (Jan. 2015 proposal). The Griffiths submitted a "comment" to the City, "support[ing] the Cherbergs' goal of obtaining a dock" (App. 62) and again proposing the compromise dock they had offered before (App. 64). The

proposal the Griffiths opposed was for a dock 100 feet over the water (App. 50), not the more modest one the Cherbergs earlier had submitted to the City (App. 40).

B. Trial Court Proceedings and Findings

1. Misrepresentation Claim and Fee Award

The Cherbergs made several claims against the Griffiths, only two of which resulted in judgments. The Griffiths prevailed on the Cherbergs' negligent misrepresentation claim (CP 275); the Cherbergs prevailed on their breach of contract claim (CP 692).

The Cherbergs' misrepresentation claim asserted that the Griffiths had concealed that they held an easement burdening the Cherbergs' land. *See* CP 8-9 ¶¶ 3.14-20. The Cherbergs sought the difference in value between the property as allegedly represented (i.e., with dock access and no easement) and as sold (i.e., with no dock access and the easement). CP 8-9 ¶¶ 3.14-20. That claim was dismissed on summary judgment before the Griffiths' first appeal: "The Court finds that the Griffiths did

not negligently misrepresent by omission the existence of the easements because the Cherbergs were on notice of the easements” (CP 275), a ruling the Cherbergs did not appeal. But, likely in order to maintain the title company’s financial support for their litigation against the Griffiths, the Cherbergs’ counsel repeatedly introduced the previously resolved easement issue into the trial testimony. *E.g.*, RP 102, 109, 113 (direct examination of Mr. Cherberg); RP 35, 36 (Cherbergs’ opening statement); RP 845-47 (Cherbergs’ closing argument).

At trial, the Cherbergs’ expert testified that the difference in value between dock and no-dock property on Mercer Island was \$1-1.2 million. RP 312. This was the sum potentially at stake on the failed negligent misrepresentation claim.

The trial court found that the Cherbergs were the prevailing party (CP 979), did not require the Cherbergs to segregate fees incurred prosecuting failed claims, and did not offset the fees the Griffiths incurred successfully defending the

misrepresentation claim on summary judgment and warding off attempts to reintroduce the issue at trial (CP 1599).

2. Contract Interpretation

The trial court found that the Griffiths had agreed to the Burns sketch dock: “The parties’ proposed dock agreement is fully defined and enforceable: This dock is 21 feet from the Griffiths’ dock at the closest point, it is 75 feet over the water, and it has a U-shape at the water end.” CP 691 ¶ 2.5.

3. Findings Relative to Corps Permit Application

Rather than hold that the Cherbergs had acted in bad faith in pursuing a Corps permit for a dock larger and more intrusive than the Burns sketch dock they claimed (and the trial court held) was agreed to, the trial court found only that “[t]he Griffiths’ [sic] did not breach the PSA” by objecting to “the dock permitted by the Corps” in June 2014 because it “is different than, and not as favorable to, the Griffiths as the proposed dock in the New Dock email and sketch.” CP 682 ¶ 1.36; CP 692 ¶ 2.8.

4. Findings Relative to City Permit Application

The trial court found that “[t]he Griffiths . . . breach[ed] the PSA beginning April 23, 2015, by objecting to” the dock the Cherbergs “proposed to the City” because it was “fully consistent with the New Dock email and sketch.” CP 689-90, 692 ¶¶ 1.80 1.81, 2.9, 2.10 (citing Ex. 431, appended here as App. 40). *But see supra* pp. 10-11 (it was not consistent).

5. Specific Performance Order

The court awarded money damages to the Cherbergs and ordered specific performance of any dock design no closer to the property line or the Griffiths’ dock than the Burns sketch dock:

The Griffiths shall sign the JUA and are ordered not to object to any dock that is no closer to their property line than agreed to in the New Dock email sketch, and no closer to the Griffiths’ dock at any point than agreed to in the New Dock email sketch, and no closer to any part of the ELL at the end of their dock than agreed to in the New Dock email sketch.

CP 693 ¶ 2.19.

C. The Court of Appeals Affirmed.

The Court of Appeals found no error and affirmed the judgment.

The Court of Appeals included in its fact section the Griffiths' strikeouts (App. 4) but ignored them in determining whether the trial court had erred in finding that the Griffiths agreed to the Burns sketch dock (App. 8-9). The Court of Appeals said the trial court found the Cherbergs "more credible" than the Griffiths (App. 9), but the trial court made no such finding. The Court of Appeals said that "unchallenged findings of fact support the trial court's conclusions" but identified none (App. 9), and the Griffiths challenged 33 findings and 23 conclusions (Brief of Appellant, 2020 WL 6588022, at *3).

The Court of Appeals ignored that the trial court granted specific performance of something materially different from what the trial court found was the "fully defined and enforceable" dock agreement. The Court of Appeals affirmed

the finding that the “fully defined and enforceable” dock “is 21 feet from the Griffiths’ dock at the closest point, it is 75 feet over the water, and it has a U shape at the water end” (App. 7) but incongruously affirmed the order of specific performance requiring the Griffiths to agree to any dock a set distance from three points (App. 12-13).

The Court of Appeals affirmed the order awarding all fees without offset finding, “the actual dispute between the parties was resolved in the breach of contract claim.” App. 19. The Court of Appeals did not explain how the fact that the Griffiths prevailed on a \$1 million claim was not part of the “actual dispute.”

V. ARGUMENT

The Decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and with published decisions of the Court of Appeals.

A. **Only One Reasonable Inference Can Be Drawn Once the Court Considers All of the Extrinsic Evidence.**

The Court of Appeals’ affirmance of the trial court’s

contract interpretation conflicts with this Court’s requirement that when “only one reasonable inference can be drawn from the extrinsic evidence,” interpretation of a contract presents a question of law. *Tanner Elec. Co-op. v. Puget Sound Power & Light Co.*, 128 Wn.2d 656, 674, 911 P.2d 1301 (1996).

The PSA itself did not define (by words or a diagram) what sort of dock the Griffiths had agreed to support, other than that they would allow the dock to be built somewhere (unspecified) within the 35-foot setback. That meant that, to determine if the Griffiths had agreed to a dock defined sufficiently to determine breach (let alone to order specific performance), the trial court had to look outside the words of the document—to extrinsic evidence. *See Hearst Commc’ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 509, 115 P.3d 262 (2005) (“extrinsic evidence may be used only to determine the meaning of specific words in the agreement”).

The Burns sketch dock itself was extrinsic to the PSA: not only was it not incorporated into the PSA, it was not even

specifically referenced. Rather, in Addendum 2 the Griffiths “acknowledge[d] receipt of the NEW DOCK email copy from Ted Burns outlining the proposed dock Buyer intends to pursue.” App. 25-26 (emphasis added). Robbs’ transmission of this email (which contained the Burns sketch) to the Griffiths stated “[t]his . . . is not binding.” App. 27. In Addendum 2, the Griffiths did nothing more than acknowledge receipt of this transmission.

The trial court fixated on one piece of extrinsic evidence (the Burns sketch). Other evidence is compelling: the Griffiths had rejected the Burns sketch dock, refused to support a permit for it, and had agreed to no defined dock. The Griffiths struck the provisions requiring them (1) to remove the floating dock (because of the obvious collision between the two docks) and (2) to “cooperate” with the “pursu[it of] a permit in order to obtain the dock.” App. 25-26. And the Burns sketch dock “is 21 feet from the Griffiths’ dock at the closest point” as the trial court found (CP 691 ¶ 2.5) only if the Griffiths’ floating dock is

removed. *See* App. 30 (21-foot measurement includes shaded floating dock).

The Griffiths struck these provisions for the same reasons they had told Robbs that they would support only a dock that did not interfere with their use of their own dock—a position that coincided with Robbs’ report that the Cherbergs desired a dock “only large enough to support a boat lift for his water ski boat [A] small dock . . . which would not interfere with the Griffiths’ use of their own dock.” Ex. 460. The Griffiths’ refusal in Addendum 2 to support a permit for the Burns sketch dock or to remove their floating docks was entirely consistent with these pre-PSA communications and was a far more specific expression of intent than any other language in Addendum 2 or any other extrinsic evidence. *See Hearst Comm’cs, Inc.*, 154 Wn.2d at 502 (“If relevant for determining mutual intent, extrinsic evidence may include . . . all the circumstances surrounding the making of the contract”) (emphasis added)).

The only reasonable conclusion from “all the circumstances surrounding the making of the contract,” *id.*, is that the parties understood that the Griffiths would sign a JUA for a dock that gave the Cherbergs the benefits they had advised Robbs they needed but would lead neither to removal of the floating dock nor “substantial interfer[ence]” with the use of the floating dock.

The trial court completely ignored the strikeouts, failing in its analysis to even mention these specific, unmistakable rejections, and relied instead on language in Addendum 2 that was substantially the same as language in Addendum 1 (that the Griffiths would allow a dock to be placed an unspecified extent within the 35-foot setback).

In affirming, the Court of Appeals made the same error.

B. The Court Erred in Affirming an Order of Specific Performance When the Terms of the PSA Showed That There Was No Agreement on a Dock or at a Minimum Great “Doubt” as to the Terms, Character, and Existence of a Contract.

A court may not order specific performance unless there

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