FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/18/2021 4:40 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Case No. 100308-1 Court of Appeals Case No. 81482-6-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES W. CHERBERG and NAN CHOT CHERBERG,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

HAL E. GRIFFITH and JOAN I. GRIFFITH,

Defendants-Appellants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

FREY BUCK, P.S.
Ted Buck, WSBA #22029
Karen L. Cobb, WSBA #34958
1200 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1900
Seattle, WA 98101
Tel: (206) 486-8000
Fax: (206) 902-9660

Email: tbuck@freybuck.com Email: kcobb@freybuck.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs-Respondents

James W. Cherberg and Nan Chot Cherberg

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

III. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

A. Review Should be Denied for Failure to Satisfy RAP 13.4.

RAP 13.4(b) provides four bases for a petition to this Court under these circumstances:

Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Disagreement with the trier of fact is plainly not a basis for review. Recognizing that, Griffiths manufacture a claim that the trial court's order on specific performance conflicts with "decisions of this Court" (RAP 13.4(b)(1)) and that the fee award conflicts with "a decision of the Court of Appeals." RAP 13.4(b)(2). Griffiths fail to establish any such conflict with binding precedent, nor could they when their argument is based solely upon once contested but now resolved questions of fact. A mere disagreement with the trial court's findings and analysis will not support review:

We reject the Dissenters' arguments because they amount to no more than disagreement with the trial court's analysis and ultimate adoption of Beaton's valuation.

EagleView Techs., v. Pikover, 192 Wn. App. 299, 311, 365 P.3d 1264, 1270 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1038, 377 P.3d 734 (2016) The Court should deny review for failure to establish any proper basis under RAP 13.4.

B. Standard of Review for Specific Performance and Bench Trials

A decree of specific performance rests within the sound discretion of the trial court and is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Craft v. Pitts*, 161 Wn.2d 16, 29, 162 P.3d 382, 389 (2007). Appellate review of the trial court's weighing of the evidence in a bench trial is limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the findings of fact and, if so, whether the findings support the conclusions of law. *Tacoma v. State*, 117 Wn.2d 348, 361, 816 P.2d 7 (1991). A respondent in a bench trial appeal is "entitled to the benefit of all evidence and reasonable inference therefrom in support of the findings of fact entered by the trial court." *Mason v. Mortgage Am.*, 114 Wn.2d 842, 853, 792 P.2d

142 (1990). Reviewing courts presume the trial court's findings are correct, and the party claiming error has the burden of showing a finding of fact is not supported by substantial evidence. *Fisher Props. v. Arden-Mayfair*, 115 Wn.2d 364, 369, 798 P.2d 799 (1990).

In determining the sufficiency of evidence, the Court need consider only evidence favorable to the prevailing party. *Nguyen v. Seattle*, 179 Wn. App. 155, 163, 317 P.3d 518 (2014) (emphasis added), citing *Bland*, *supra*, at 155. This Court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party and defer to the trial court regarding witness credibility and conflicting testimony. *Weyerhaeuser v. Tacoma-Pierce Cnty Health Dep't*, 123 Wn. App. 59, 65, 96 P.3d 460 (2004).

When evidence is conflicting, the trial court's determination is decisive and the reviewing court must determine only whether the evidence most favorable to the prevailing party supports the challenged findings. *Du Pont*, *supra*, at 479. Within that framework, substantial evidence is a quantity of evidence

sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the asserted premise. Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research. Ctr. v. Holman, 107 Wn.2d 693, 712, 732 P.2d 974 (1987). If that standard is satisfied, the appellate court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court even though it may have resolved disputed facts differently. Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 879–80, 73 P.3d 369 (2003); Merriman v. Cokeley, 168 Wn.2d 627, 631, 230 P.3d 162 (2010) ("We will not disturb findings of fact supported by substantial evidence even if there is conflicting evidence.").

- C. Trial Court's Order for Specific Performance is Supported by Substantial Evidence and Not in Conflict with any Binding Precedent.
- 1. RAP 13.4 does not allow this Court to reweigh evidentiary and credibility determinations of the trial court.

Griffiths assert a conflict with the holding in *Tanner Elec*. *Co-op. v. Puget Sound Power and Light Co.*, 128 Wn.2d 656, 674, 911 P.2d 1301 (1996), that "when only one reasonable inference can be drawn from the extrinsic evidence, interpretation of a

contract presents a question of law." *Petition*, p. 17, ¶ 1. Their claim is not that any court disagreed with, misapplied or conflicted with *Tanner*, it is that the appellate panels and trial court disagreed with Griffiths' contention that the facts could only be interpreted one way. Disagreement over facts does not a caselaw conflict make. Indeed, four courts have already addressed Griffiths' claim that only one interpretation could possibly exist, and each (including pivotally the trial court) rejected their contention:

Honorable Mariane Spearman (retired) found on summary judgment that Cherbergs' interpretation of the parties' contract supported specific performance;

Court of Appeals found "there are at least two reasonable interpretations of the parties' intent" and remanded for trial."

Honorable Steve Rosen found, after weighing all evidence, including the specific extrinsic evidence cited by Griffiths, the evidence supported Cherbergs' interpretation of the contract and an award of specific performance.

Court of Appeals affirmed the award of specific performance.

Griffiths repeatedly recite conflicting trial evidence, append 42

additional pages of trial exhibits, and then invite this Court to improperly construe those facts in their favor. Binding precedent, of course, forbids that, as in determining the sufficiency of evidence the appellate court considers only evidence favorable to the prevailing party. *Bland*, *supra*, at 155.

Ultimately, the trial court considered and weighed all disputed facts and evidence and reached the same conclusion reached three years prior on summary judgment; Cherbergs are entitled to an award of specific performance. A second appellate panel (including two of the judges that remanded for trial in 2017) agreed and affirmed. There was obviously more than one "reasonable interpretation" of the purchase and sale agreement ("PSA") and Cherbergs' interpretation was supported by substantial evidence at trial. Those facts cannot be rehashed in yet another forum to change the outcome in Griffiths' favor – the question has been weighed in the proper forum and found wanting. The matter is decided.

2. <u>Griffiths' assertion regarding the terms</u> of the order of

specific performance raises an improper question of fact, not law.

Griffiths also assert that the award of specific performance "require[es] Griffiths to do something materially different even from what the trial court (erroneously) found Griffiths had agreed to do." Griffiths' own argument on this point is so obviously fact driven that it defeats itself as to establishing any requisite for review. *Petition*, pp. 21-22.

Again, Griffiths intentionally contort and misconstrue the facts without regard for the record (let alone the truth). They claim that the order of specific performance "bind[s] Griffiths to accept any dock Cherbergs choose that is a specified distance from various points." Petition, p. 22, ¶ 2. Griffiths offer this canard in a vacuum, ignoring the multitude of findings and conclusions that require Cherbergs to seek a permit for a dock that conforms with the specified distances, but also the design of the "proposed dock" contained in the New Dock email referenced in Addendum 2 and more specifically described in numerous ways in the findings of

fact. See e.g. CP 679-680 (¶¶ 1.15-1.18); CP 685 (¶ 1.63) ("The second addendum uses the word "proposed" three times..."). The foundational proposed dock is defined by location, shape and dimension – ignoring these facts cannot establish a proper basis for review under RAP 13.4.

Griffiths append trial exhibits purporting to negate the above findings, despite those exhibits clearly having been considered by the trial court prior to rendering its verdict. Indeed, an entire month passed between conclusion of the trial on June 13, 2019 and closings on July 15, 2019. *See* RP 612 & RP 811. During his oral ruling, Judge Rosen confirmed that during the ensuing weeks he had reviewed "all of the trial testimony and spent some significant time with the exhibits[.]" RP 927:22-23.

When I consider all of those things together, I find that the plaintiffs have proven by a preponderance of the evidence that there was an agreement not to object to an actual dock with placement and dimensions and an easement modification. I find that the plaintiffs have proven this by clear and unequivocal evidence that leaves no doubt as to the terms, character, and existence of the agreement. I find that they have proven the agreement not to object to the proposed

dock, as indicated in the two addendums.

RP 937:9-20. The suggestion that the trial court gave short shrift to any of the evidence by "fixating on one piece of extrinsic evidence (the Burns sketch)" ignores not only the record but also the detailed and well-reasoned findings of fact and conclusions of law that verify its consideration of all Griffiths' evidence. CP 677 – 694. Findings so obviously based upon the weighing of the evidence and credibility of witnesses could only be overturned by withholding any deference whatsoever to the trial court's determinations following trial on the merits.

In short, Griffiths simply disagree with the underlying courts as to the interpretation of evidence, not any conflict with precedent that satisfies any prerequisite for this Court's review of the award of specific performance.

D. The Fee Award is Supported by Substantial Evidence and Properly Identifies Cherbergs as the Prevailing Party.

Griffiths claim that the "Court of Appeals' affirmance of the fee award conflicts with *Transpac Dev. v. Young Suk Oh*, 132 Wn.

App. 212, 217-19, 130 P.3d 892 (2006)." However, *Transpac*'s facts are inapposite and analysis thereunder leads to a contrary conclusion; here the trial court did not have before it "multiple distinct and severable contract claims at issue" at trial and only Cherbergs "prevailed on major issues."

Transpac involved breach of contract between landlord (Transpac) and tenant (Oh) and a dispute regarding fees on dueling contract claims; the trial court determined that Oh had breached the lease, justifying termination thereof, and that Transpac itself breached the lease by its failure to mitigate unpaid rent. The trial court awarded no attorney's fees and Oh appealed. *Id.*, at 217-218. On appeal, the court determined that the two claims were distinct, Transpac's based upon the original breach by Oh and Oh's based upon Transpac's failure to mitigate its damages. *Id.*

Because the claims were distinct and separable, premised upon different facts, the appellate court agreed the parties were both entitled to fees for breach of the contract and the fees should offset because "each party avoided the remedies the other party sought." *Id.*, at 217.

Transpac is distinguishable in that both of the parties' claims were based upon direct breach of the contract, were distinct and capable of segregation, and both parties avoided some portion of the remedies sought. The analysis below further evidences the distinction.

1. The contract and misrepresentation claims arose out of a common core of facts which were not subject to or capable of reasonable segregation.

Cherbergs originally alleged, as alternative theories premised upon the same facts, that Griffiths breached the PSA and misrepresented facts relevant to the purchase. In their misrepresentation claim, Cherbergs alleged that Griffiths failed to disclose two "exclusive easements" that would have precluded Cherbergs from building their proposed dock and resulted in a significant devaluation of their While the property. misrepresentation claim was dismissed and did not proceed to trial, the facts of Griffiths' failure to disclose the easements and the resulting limitations on Cherbergs' ability to build their dock remained a seminal topic throughout litigation and at trial.

The 2016 summary judgment dismissal of the misrepresentation claim was based upon the Declaration of Kris Robbs stating that she had advised Cherbergs of the easements. ³ The court's ruling considered Cherbergs' duty to prove their claim upon the higher evidentiary standard of clear, cogent and convincing evidence. CP 274-276; *Lawyers Title Ins. Corp. v. Soon J. Baik*, 147 Wn.2d 536, 545, 55 P.3d 619 (2002).

The easement issue continued to impact the case in that it affected Cherbergs' ability to permit a dock extending from the outcropping as drawn in the "New Dock sketch." *See Appendix to Petition*, pp. 27-30. Although the misrepresentation claim regarding *disclosure* of the easements was dispelled, the controversy on the facts related to the easement raged on as Griffiths continued to challenge Cherbergs' right to invade the easement to permit their dock. *See* CP 361-363; CP 365-366.

³ CP 696-698 (Order Granting Motion to Reopen Evidence to Admit Exhibit 460 (Robbs Decl.)

Ultimately the trial court ruled that Griffiths are required to "modify" the "exclusive" easement pursuant to the PSA, allowing Cherbergs to build their dock in the easement area. CP 680-681 $(\P 1.17-1.21; \P 1.25-1.27); CP 691 (\P 2.7); CP 693 (\P 2.20).$ Cherbergs' allegations of failure to disclose were very much at issue during trial. Not only were Cherbergs unable to segregate time spent on the different claims based upon the same set of facts, under the circumstances they were not required to do so. *Hume v*. Am. Disposal Co., 124 Wn.2d 656, 672–73, 880 P.2d 988, 997 (1994), citing *Hume v. Am. Disposal Co.*, 61 Wn. App. 656, 447-48, 810 P.2d 952, 815 P.2d 812 (1994), review denied, 118 Wn.2d 1008, 824 P.2d 490 (1992) ("[t]he trial court found that the [plaintiff's] claims were based upon a common core of facts and that no reasonable segregation of successful and unsuccessful claims could be made. This was a judgment clearly falling within the trial court's discretion.")

Conversely, excision of fees on unsuccessful claims should occur only as to wholly distinct claims: "[w]here the plaintiff has

failed to prevail on a claim that is *distinct in all respects* from his successful claims, the hours spent on the unsuccessful claim should be excluded in considering the amount of a reasonable fee." *Brand*, *supra*, at 672 (emphasis added). Here the underlying facts to the misrepresentation and breach claims were inextricably intertwined; no segregation is necessary or required.

Finally, specific performance is intended to return the parties to the condition they would have been in had the contract been performed. *Kofmehl v. Steelman*, 80 Wn. App. 279, 285–86, 908 P.2d 391, 394 (1996), citing *Northwest Television Club v. Gross Seattle*, 96 Wn.2d 973, 983–84, 634 P.2d 837, 640 P.2d 710 (1981). Granting Griffiths an offset for fees related to the misrepresentation claim, where that ruling had absolutely no impact on the trial or its outcome, would be contrary to the equitable principles at play. *Landberg v. Carlson*, 108 Wn. App. 749, 758, 33 P.3d 406 (2001), *review denied*, 146 Wn.2d 1008, 51 P.3d 86 (2002) (supporting an award of attorney's fees under equitable principles, in addition to statute and contract). This

includes all fees, costs, expenses and "necessary disbursements" during litigation and on appeal. *See Singleton v. Frost*, 108 Wn.2d 723, 729, 742 P.2d 1224, 1227 (1987).

Cherbergs were granted specific performance on summary judgment and again at trial. RCW 4.84.330 requires fees be awarded to the prevailing party and equitable principles allow this Court to do so in a manner sufficient to make that party whole. Cherbergs wholly prevailed on the matters tried, which were inextricably linked by the same core set of facts surrounding the transaction and Griffiths' breach of the contract. Griffiths prevailed only upon an alternative legal theory to the theory on which Cherbergs ultimately and fully prevailed. No offset would have been appropriate, and the trial court certainly did not abuse its discretion in so holding.

2. The dismissal of the misrepresentation claim resulted in no benefit to Griffiths; they did not avoid the remedy sought against them.

Griffiths' claim regarding the misrepresentation claim they prevailed on at summary judgment is nonsense. While there was

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